IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ALBERT HOLLAND,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 78,660

Appellee.

CORRECTED INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

RICHARD B. GREENE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 265446

Counsel for Appellant

TA OF CONTENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT	1
STATEMENT OF THE CASE	1
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS	2
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT	16
<u>ARGUMENT</u>	
<u>POINT I</u>	
THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN OVERRULING DEFENSE COUNSEL'S OBJECTIONS TO THE TESTIMONY OF DR, STRAUSS, , , , , , , ,	18
POINT II

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Albert Holland, Jr., was the Defendant and the **State** of Florida was the Prosecution in the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit of Florida. In the brief, the parties will be referred to by name or as Appellant and Appellee.

The following symbol will be used:

"R" Record on Appeal

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Albert Holland was indicted on August 16, 1990, for firstdegree murder of a law enforcement officer, armed robbery, sexual battery, and attempted first-degree murder (R3315-16). A hearing was held on Mr. Holland's competency to stand trial on December 3, 1990 (R45-295). Both mental health experts appointed by the judge (Drs. Block-Garfield and Koprowski) testified that Albert Holland was incompetent (R153-226). However, a psychiatrist who works for the Broward County Jail testified that he was competent (R153-197). There was also lay testimony presented (R227-289). The trial judge found Mr. Holland competent on December 4, 1990 (R290, 3443). jury was selected on July 8-12, 1991, and the trial was then recessed without the jury being sworn (R875-1693). The evidentiary portion of the trial took place from July 22-August 2, 1991 (R1694-2918). The jury returned a verdict of guilty as charged (R4698-The penalty phase was held on August 12, 1991 (R3098-3217). The jury recommended death by a vote of eleven to one (R4763). The trial judge sentenced Albert Holland to death for first degree murder, life for sexual battery, forty years for attempted first

degree murder, and seventeen years for armed robbery. All sentences were consecutive (R4784-4816).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The case involves an alleged sexual battery and attempted first-degree murder of T J and an alleged first-degree murder and armed robbery of Scott Winters on July 29, 1990. The defense in the case involved both insanity and intoxication.

stated that on July 29, 1990, she was walking to her house at about 4:00 p.m. with a beer in hand (R1763-64). She met Albert Holland and he asked if she wanted to smoke crack cocaine (R1765-66). They walked together to a wooded area and he broke off half of a cocaine rock and started to smoke cocaine (R1766). He smoked the half rock by himself (R1771). He then smoked the other half of the rock and "he went aff." She stated he then threw her on the ground and began hitting her with a bottle (R1773-74). He then pulled her clothes off (R1774-75). She stated he unzipped his pants and put his penis in her mouth (R1774-75). She passed out (R1774-75). She had last smoked cocaine two days earlier and was regularly smoking crack cocaine at the time (R1781,1784-85). Albert Holland seemed like a nice person before he smoked cocaine (R1789). He told her that he had smoked a lot of drugs earlier in the day (R1789-90). After he smoked the second half of the rock "it was like he snapped" (R1793).

The prosecution called lay witnesses who claimed to witness Albert Holland during or near the time of either the alleged sexual battery or the alleged homicide. Angela Minion saw Albert Holland talking to T J (R1801). She saw T J about

thirty minutes later and she appeared to have been beaten (R1802). Audrey Canion testified that she was in her trailer when she heard a woman yelling for help (R1808-09). She stated she saw Albert Holland hit a woman with a green bottle (R1810). She called 911 (R1881). She saw them struggle (R1813). Her husband came out and said, "Man, you're gonna kill that woman" (R1813-14). The man ran (R1814).

Wesley Hill was playing cards on July 29, 1990, when Albert Holland walked by and they spoke (R1818-19). Mr. Holland continued on into a nearby woods (R1819). He came back about fifteen minutes later and was bloody (R1820). He stated someone had tried to rob him (R1820-21). James Edwards stated that he was in the group of card players and Albert Holland walked by and was sweaty and bloodied (R1823-24). His shirt was off and he looked like he had something wrapped up in it (R1825). Lloyd Pickett testified that he saw Mr. Holland walk by with blood on his chest (R1828). He heard sirens about an hour later (R1831).

Roland Everson stated that at 7:00 p.m. he saw a police officer and a black male on 26th Avenue in Pompano Beach (R1833). The police officer was strugglingwith Albert Holland (R1834). The officer had him in a headlock (R1835). He went to call 911 (R1835). He heard two shots after he hung up the phone (R1837). One shot immediately followed the other (R1841-42). He looked and saw the man kneeling on one knee about twenty feet from the officer (R1837-38). He stated that the man had every opportunity to fire more shots (R1842-43). The man then began jogging away (R1839).

Abraham Bell stated that he was in his truck and heard a police officer's PA call out, "Hey, you get over there" at a fellow walking on the street (₹1970) ■ The man walked to the police car (R1971). The officer told him to put his hands on the car, which he did (R1971). The officer walked up behind him, put a nightstick in his back and reached over to talk on the radio on his shoulder (R1971). The other man then swung at the officer's head (R1972). The officer then got the man in a headlock and had control of his left arm (R1973). The officer then hit him four or five times with his nightstick (R1973). They continued to scuffle and moved around towards the driver's side of the car (R1973). He atated that the man reached down and tried to get the officer's gun with his right hand, even though the officer still had him in a headlock and still had his left arm pinned (R1974). The officer was pushing down on the man's hand in the holster (R1975. They struggled back and forth (R1975). The officer finally released his hand and the gun came out (R1976). The officer still had the man in a headlock and the gun then went off twice (R1977). The man's head was in the officer's stomach (R1984). The shots were "right behind each other" (R1985). Albert Holland could not see where he was firing (R1986-87). The man then ran (R1986).

The next phase of the prosecution's case consisted of several Pompano Beach police officers. Officer Pepper Shaw stated that she received a call to respond to an assault at 6:29 p.m. on July 29, 1990 (R1848-49). She met with Officer Winters at the 2000 block of Hammondville Road at about 6:45 p.m. (R1853-56). Officer Winters had his dog with him (R1856). She stated that between 7:10

and 7:20 p.m. she heard Officer Winters come on the police radio saying he "has the subject in custody" (R1864). A few minutes later she heard a noise "like a scream" on the radio (R1864-65).

Officer O'Connell testified that he was dispatched to an assault call at 6:31 p.m. on July 29, 1990 (R1898-99). He arrived at the scene at 6:39 p.m. (R1899-1900). At 7:24 p.m., Officer Winters was trying to reach him on the radio (R1906-08). At 7:25 p.m., Officer Winters asked for backup (R1909). At 7:26 p.m. he called and said he'd been shot (R1920). Albert Holland was detained at 7:31 p.m. (R1930). He went to Winters' location. He saw two wounds on Winters just above his belt on the upper thigh (R1912). His gun was missing (R1913).

Officer Redpath went to 710 N.W. 19th Avenue and found a woman lying on the **ground** (R1998-1999). She was wearing white panties and was bloody (R2000). He saw clothing in the area (R2001). He participated in the arrest of Albert Holland (R2005).

Officer Garcia testified that he was involved in transporting Albert Holland to the jail (R2073-78). He stated that he asked him to remove his clothes in English and he didn't respond, but that he complied when he spoke to him in Spanish (R2074). He stated his name was Antonio Rivera (R2075).

Gene DeTuscan, a Broward County toxicologist, testified that he tested a sample of Albert Holland's vomit, which was obtained at 11:42 p.m. on July 29, 1990 (R2085-94). The sample tested positive for cocaine and ethanol alcohol (R2089-94).

 $^{^{1}}$ **The** ethanol alcohol may indicate drinking alcohol or stomach fermentation (R2090-91).

Officer McDonald stated that he found a gun in a rock pile at 2:00 p.m. on July 30, 1990 (R2193). Officer Cerat testified that the hammer was cocked and there was a live round in the chamber (R2207-08). Officer Meroff testified that the gun matched the serial number registered to Officer Winters (R2211).

Officer Holbrook, a fingerprint technician, testified that Albert Holland's thumb print matched a latent on Officer Winters' car's hood (R2227), Jeffrey Ban, a forensic serologist, testified that a blood lift from the exterior side of the driver's door on Officer Winter's car was a DNA match with a sample of Albert Holland's blood (R2281-88). He stated that blood on the back of Officer Winters' shirt also matched Albert Holland's blood (R2293).

Larry Tate, a Broward County medical examiner, testified that the deceased had received two gunshot wounds (R2327). One bullet wound was on the lower left abdomen and the other was where the abdomen meets the thigh (R2335). The gunshot wound to the abdomen was the cause of death (R2341-42). He could not determine the order of shots or the gun's position when fired (R2349-51,2358).

Officer Kevin Butler states that he interrogated Albert Holland on July 30, 1990 (R2369-70). The interrogation was taped. However, most of the tape is inaudible (R2372-73). He stated that he was confronted by a police officer who had a police dog in his car (R2377). The officer threatened to put the dog on him (R2378). He started to struggle with the officer (R2377-78). The officer had pulled his gun and pointed it at him and said he was going to shoot him (R2378). He got the gun and shot twice (R2378).

Firearms examiner Dennis Grey stated that Winters' gun holds one bullet in the chamber and nine in the magazine (R2405). The gun was found with seven cartridges with it (R2406). The magazine pouch had been struck by two projectiles (R2409). Both had gunshot residue, indicating firing fromthrea to six inches (R2411). This weapon was at the bottom end of the acceptable range of trigger pull (R2417,2423). The state rested and defense motions for mistrial and motions for judgment of acquittal were denied (R2463).

The defense case began with the testimony of Dr. William Love, a psychologist. Dr, Love is board certified in behavioral medicine and clinical neuropsychology (R2494-95). He was declared an expert in the fields of psychology and neuropsychology (R2496-97). reviewed the hospital records of Albert Holland from Madison, Wisconsin, and from St, Elizabeth's in Washington, D.C. (R2497-98). He interviewed Albert Holland and his father, Albert Holland, Senior (R2498). He reviewed depositions concerning this incident (R2499-2500). Albert Holland had a seemingly normal childhood until age 16 (R2500-2501). He began to abuse drugs heavily, including heroin (R2501-02). He was eventually sent to federal prison, where he was severely beaten to the point where he lost consciousness for a long period and was in and out of consciousness for a long time (R2503). A CAT scan indicated a distortion of the right frontal ventricle (R2503-04). This injury could have been caused by the beating (R2505). The fact that a subsequent CAT scan doesn't show the defect merely means the matter has shifted back; it does not mean the damage is gone (R2506). It is also possible to have brain damage which does not show up on a CAT scan (R2506).

Albert Holland began to show symptoms of schizophrenia after the beating (R2507). These include thought disorders, paranoia, and a breakdown in reality testing (R2508-09). Stress can cause these people to show psychotic symptoms including hallucinations (R2511). Borderline schizophrenia often develops in individuals with a head injury (R2512). The area of the brain which showed injury can affect sex drive (R2516-17).

Albert Holland was a poly-drug abuser, including heroin, cocaine, Dilaudid, alcohol and Percodan (R2513-14). He was in St. Elizabeth's mental hospital for several years (R2518). often given Haldol and Thorazine (R2517-18). Dr. Love stated that during his interview with Albert Holland he exhibited distorted thinking, consistent with schizophrenia (R2521-22). Dr. Love testified that given his underlying problems, the smoking of the second half rock of cocaine caused a total change in personality, almost like flipping a light switch (R2519-20). The stress of the confrontation with the officer also caused him to lose control again (R2522-23). Dr. Love stated that a mixture of cocaine and alcohol can cause very unpredictable reactions (R2525). He did not feel that Albert Holland was malingering (R2526-27). His spending 5½ years in St. Elizabeth's mental hospital made malingering "highly unlikely" (R2529). Albert Holland had a pre-existing fear of being attacked by dogs which could be a triggering mechanism during the incident with the officer (R2602). Dr. Love stated that Albert Holland was legally insane during both incidents (R2606-07).

The defense then called Dr. Patterson, medical director of Forensic Services for the District of Columbia Mental Health Commission. He is a practicing psychiatrist, as well as being on the faculty at Howard University Medical School (R2609). He is board certified in psychology, neuropsychology and forensic psychiatry (R2509). He was a staff psychiatrist at St. Elizabeth's mental hospital when Albert Holland was first there. He was on Thorazine during this time (R2614). Dr. Patterson stated that for people who are not mentally ill, the level of Thorazine which he was on would act as a major tranquilizer (R2615-16). Prior to taking Thorazine, Albert's thinking seemed very disorganized and Thorazine seemed to help him (R2615-16).

Albert Holland was found not guilty by reason of insanity in the District of Columbia on January 8, 1982, and again on December 14, 1982 (R2617-18). Both of these judicial findings occurred after the hospital psychiatrists had rendered a medical opinion that he was insane (R2617-21). Dr. Patterson stated that the District of Columbia standard has

two prongs are that either one does not know the difference between right or wrong based on mental illness or cannot control themselves.

(R2616).²

Albert Holland was in St. Elizabeth's until June 12, 1986, and the diagnosis throughout that time was that he was suffering from schizophrenia, which at times reached the point of psychosis

 $^{^2}$ At both hearings the hospital doctors testified that they believed Albert knew right from wrong, but that he could not conform his conduct to the requirements of law ${
m due}$ to mental illness (R2638-39).

(R2624-25). He was on psychotropic medication for much of that time (R2625-26). On June 10, 1986, a court again found that Albert Holland required hospitalization (R2630). On June 12, 1986, he ran away and did not return (R2631-32). He stated that the hospital rejected organic problems, but that an MRI could have changed this diagnosis (R2634).

Dr. Patterson stated that medical experts believe that an excess of the neurotransmitter dopamine is the cause of schizophrenia (R2635-36). This excess can cause hallucinations and delusions (R2636). Thorazine and other anti-psychotics are designed to block dopamine (R2636). Cocaine stimulates the production of dopamine (R2637). Cocaine can cause psychosis in a person without underlying problems (R2637). The likelihood of this is far greater in a person with a history of schizophrenia (R2637).

Dr. Thomas Polley, a clinical psychologist from \$t. Elizabeth's, testified concerning his psychological testing of Albert Holland. Albert Holland had a lot of chaos in his feelings (R2693). He viewed men as very threatening, fearful, and destructive (R2696). He had a lot of confusion concerning his relationship with his father (R2694). He also has intense dependency needs and experiences massive frustration when these are denied (R2695-96). He has no clear sense of self identity (R2692). His testing was also consistent with a person with sexual problems (R2697). He has few defenses and when stressed can be easily overwhelmed and become psychotic (R2698). His Rorschach test was consistent with a person with paranoid and psychotic thinking (R2698-99). Dr. Polley stated that Albert Holland was mentally ill when he saw him

(R2700). Dr. Polley stated that during Albert Holland's second 1982 incident he did not have the ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law, but that he knew right from wrong (R2702). He required hospitalization (R2702-03). He had an underlying thought disorder the entire time he was at St. Elizabeth's (R2704). His five years at St. Elizabeth's indicated that he was not a malingerer (R2708).

Dr. Polley's tests indicated mild signs of organic brain impairment, but no gross signs (R2725). However, no neuropsychological testing was done at St. Elizabeth's (R2737). Dr. Polley felt that drugs reduced his ability to control his aggression (R2738-39). In a person with a thought disorder, drugs will worsen the problem (R2739). The defense then rested (R2742). Its renewed motion for judgment of acquittal was denied (R2743-44).

The prosecution called **Oscar** Mayers, an Assistant U.S. Attorney from the District of Columbia. He stated that in December, 1989, and March, 1990, he prosecuted Albert Holland under the name of Roberto Gomez (R2465). He did not pursue an insanity defense (R2465-67). He saw him in court on three occasions for 45 minutes and he was vocal about asserting his rights (R2469-81).

Martha Williams stated that she met Albert Holland in 1986, as Roberto Gomez (R2745). They dated for four to five months (R2748-49). Lee Smith stated that he met Albert Holland in 1986 in Maryland, just outside of the District of Columbia (R2752-53). He was a minister at that time (R2753). He met Albert Holland in August or September, 1986 (R2753). Albert Holland introduced himself in the front of his church (R2754), Albert eventually

moved into a camper on church property (R2754). Albert Holland worked around the church (R2755-56). He was there about three weeks (R2757). He went by Roberto Gomez (R2757). In January, 1988, Albert Holland told him that his name was not Roberto Gomez and that he had been a patient at St. Elizabeth's (R2757-60). Jerry Mahon, a pipe fitter foreman at Lawton Reformatory, stated that he supervised Albert Holland for four months in early 1990 (R2762-65). Mr. Holland went by Roberto Gomez (R2765).

Gregory Bailey, a District of Columbia policeman, stated that he participated in the arrest of Albert Holland for cocaine on November 28, 1989 (R2768-71). Mr. Holland attempted to flee and to grab his gun from his holster (R2771-72). He later threatened to kill him after he was arrested (R2774).

The prosecution called psychiatrist Dr. James Jordan (R2781). He first saw Albert Holland on March 16, 1991, for an hour (R2786). He saw him again on April 26, 1991 (R2786). He also reviewed records from St. Elizabeth's, police reports, and the report of the jail psychiatrist, and two psychologists, a videotape of Mr. Holland in the courtroom and a report by Dr. Love (R2786-88). He felt that Albert Holland was sane during the offenses, because his activity was "goal oriented" (R2790-95).

The prosecution then called Dr. Elizabeth Koprowski, a psychologist (R2808). She interviewed Mr. Holland on two occasions in September, 1990; once for 30 minutes and once for 45 minutes (R2811-12). She felt that he was incompetent to stand trial in December, 1991 (R2812-13). He could not challenge witnesses or testify (R2823). He did not understand the charges (R2821). She

later reviewed records from St. Elizabeth's, as well as material concerning the incident in question (R2814-15). In May, 1991, she interviewed him again for 50 minutes (R2815-16). Albert Holland reported having hallucinations when he smoked cocaine (R2816). She felt that he was competent in May, 1991, and that he was sane at the time of the offense (R2818-19). However, she continued to feel that he showed some signs of schizophrenia, such as social isolation and tangential thinking (R2829). She stated that he remained "deeply emotionally disturbed" (R2832).

Nathan Jones testified that he saw Albert Holland at about ten minutes after 5:00 p.m. at his church near Hammondville Road in Pompano Beach (R2836). Mr. Holland asked for food (R2838). He came in and played the piano (R2839). They gave him \$5.00 and he left (R2839-40). He did not appear to be on drugs or alcohol (R2840). Albert Holland said afterward that he wanted to bless the church and that he would send \$500 back to the church.

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