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

While death **cases** command our closest scrutiny, it is still the obligation of the appellate court to review with caution the exercise of experienced discretion by a trial judge in matters such as a motion for continuance.

For example, in Bouie v. State, 559 So.2d 1113, 1114 (Fla. 1990), the court observed:

Granting a continuance **is** within a trial court's discretion, and the court's ruling will be disturbed only when the discretion has been abused. (cites omitted). We find no abuse of discretion here. The State's good faith and diligence in this matter has been established. Moreover, having only days to develop the confession issue, defense counsel used his time well. He effectively cross-examined Edwards and brought Edwards' prior record to the jury's attention. His examination of the other inmates also cast doubt on Edwards' credibility and placed the question of whom to believe squarely to the jury. Bouie has shown no undue prejudice caused by the court's ruling. . . .

Even if we were to find that the court erred in not granting a continuance, any such error would have been harmless. The record discloses that defense counsel **performed** adequately in regards to Edwards' testimony. Even without Edwards' testimony the evidence against Bouie clearly rebuts his trial testimony. We are certain, therefore, that the jailhouse confession, as recited by Edwards, did not contribute to Bouie's conviction. As stated previously, Bouie has failed to demonstrate prejudice, and we can say beyond any reasonable doubt that not granting a continuance did not affect the verdict. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

559 So.2d at 1114-1115.

~~See also~~ Gore v. State, 559 So.2d 978 (Fla. 1992), wherein the court reviewed Gore's claim that the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a continuance to secure the presence of a defense witness who was unable to travel to the trial due to her pregnancy. The court, after reviewing the facts, determined there was no abuse of discretion based on the circumstances of that case.

On Monday, July 29, 1991, the defense commenced the presentation of its case. Dr. William Love, a psychologist, was

called to the stand and testified regarding his observations of Holland (TR 2493-2606). Dr. Patterson, a psychologist who first met Holland in 1981, at St. Elizabeth's Hospital, was next called and testified regarding Holland's mental health history and the facts and circumstances surrounding Holland's hospitalization at St. Elizabeth's Hospital in Washington, D.C. (TR 2612-2667). Holland then called Dr. Thomas Polley, a psychologist at St. Elizabeth's Hospital, who detailed Holland's mental health history and the tests that were performed during his hospitalization at St. Elizabeth's Hospital (TR 2676-2740).

Holland presented no lay witnesses regarding either his mental health or any information concerning Holland's circumstances the day of the crime. The defense rested its case following the testimony of the aforementioned doctors. Holland was personally asked if he wished to testify or if he had anything to say at this juncture and he declined to make any remarks (TR 2741).

Albeit Holland cites cases such as Robinson v. State, 561 So.2d 419 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Beechum v. State, 547 So.2d 288 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989), and Unruh v. State, 560 So.2d 266 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990), for the proposition that the trial court committed reversible error in denying Holland's motion to continue the trial, the State would submit each of the aforementioned cases **are** distinguishable based on the facts and circumstances of the instant case. While in a given case it may be reversible error for the trial court not to grant a continuance based on an abuse of discretion because the defense has not been given sufficient

opportunity to develop or investigate, for example, the defendant's psychiatric problems, the instant record is replete with opportunity and in fact Holland presented three doctors regarding his mental health defense. Holland has **cited** to no witness who may have been "belatedly provided" that he would have called or would have deposed with regard to this case. Certainly, the speculation on the part of defense counsel that he could have done more is neither new nor unique. The State would submit that in the instant case the trial court did not abuse his discretion in denying further continuances of Holland's trial.²

POINT XIV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT **ERRED** IN DENYING A PENALTY PHASE CONTINUANCE

Without regurgitating the caselaw with regard to whether a trial court abuses its discretion in denying motion for continuance, the State would note that this Court has previously considered and rejected claims of error in regard to the denial of a motion for continuance of a capital case penalty phase. See Williams v. State, 438 So.2d 781 (Fla. 1983); Rose v. State, 461 So.2d 84 (Fla. 1984). In Williams, this Court found no error in such ruling, stating that defense counsel had been on notice for several months since his appointment that the case would involve the death penalty. This Court further noted that there had been

² It is also interesting to note that throughout the proceedings whenever Holland personally had an opportunity to address the court, he complained about his lawyers' competency and complained that he was being denied a speedy trial as well as his privacy rights were being violated because of the **use** of an insanity defense.

a two hour recess to allow counsel to prepare, and concluded that the continuance request had been insufficient, in that counsel had failed to demonstrate due diligence in seeking to locate mitigating witnesses and had further failed to allege that the motion had **been** made **in** good faith.

The record reflects that pretrial, defense counsel was complaining that he needed a continuance because he had not commenced preparation for the penalty phase of Holland's trial. The record reflects however that the jury convicted Holland on all four counts on August 1, 1991 (TR 3084-3085). The trial court recessed the proceedings until August 12, 1991, the date set for the commencement of the penalty phase. On August 8, 1991, defense counsel informed the court that they were still having problems locating witnesses from Washington, D.C., and asked for more time to prepare for the penalty phase. Defense counsel desired a two week delay (TR 3092). The trial court denied **same** and on August 12, 1991, the penalty phase proceedings commenced. Following the State's one witness and the stipulation of the parties that Holland had a previous conviction of assault with intent to commit robbery while armed on March 6, 1979 (TR 3144), the defense called Holland's father, who testified in his son's behalf (TR 3144-3170). Holland's younger sister, Rebecca Holland, was also called to testify (TR 3175-3178), and following her testimony the defense rested. Holland now argues that he needed more time for the penalty phase as demonstrated by the colloquy between the judge and defense counsel concerning the number of witnesses that would testify (TR 3115-3116). Based on

Holland's representations to the trial court, the only witness who did not testify was Holland's mother yet, there was no explanation as to why she did not testify. The sole **case** upon which Holland relies, Wike v. State, 596 So.2d 1020, 1024-1025 (Fla. 1992), is clearly distinguishable from the instant **case**. In Wike, supra, the penalty phase was scheduled to commence the morning following the rendition of the guilty verdicts:

. . . On that morning, defense counsel requested a one week continuance for the purpose of procuring additional mitigating witnesses, e.g., Wike's mother, who at the time could not testify due to health problems but might be able to testify in a week; a cousin who was due to arrive in town that night; and Wike's ex-wife, who had just been located and could provide important family background information, particularly about Wike's alcohol and drug abuse. After the State agreed to stipulate to Wike's mother's testimony, without her having to testify, the court denied the motion for a continuance.

596 So.2d at 1024-1025.

The court found that there had been an abuse of discretion because:

. . . Given the circumstances of this case, we conclude that the trial court abused its discretion in denying Wike's motion for continuance. We emphasize that Wike's request for a continuance was for a short period of time and for a specific purpose. It is clear that Wike's family members, specifically, his cousin and ex-wife, could have provided admissible evidence for the jury to consider during the penalty phase had the continuance been granted. Ordinarily, we are reluctant to invade the purview of the trial judge; however, we find that the failure to grant a continuance, if only for a few days, under these circumstances was error. . . .

596 So.2d 1025.

Under no stretch of the imagination can Holland begin to suggest that the instant case is similar to that of Wike. In fact, lay witnesses testified in Holland's case and there was no explanation presented as to why a third family member was not available to testify or that she would have testified to something other than what Holland's father and sister had already presented to the jury.

Additionally, a review of the motion for continuance admitted on July 8, 1991 (TR 4705-4707), reflects that no specific witness was listed nor any explanation as to why a certain witness was not available. See Williams v. State, supra. Said motion was completely unspecific as to the names of potential witnesses, as well as the due diligence which had been expended in seeking to **locate** them. Holland failed to fully discuss the substance of their expected testimony, and he further failed to even allege that this testimony could not be secured through other witnesses, i.e., his father and sister. See Smith v. State, 59 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1952) (continuance motion insufficient where, inter alia, not sworn to and lacking allegations that expected testimony material to cause and as such could not be proven by other available witnesses). See Lusk, supra; Williams, supra, and Rose, supra.

Based on the foregoing, all relief should be denied as to this claim.

POINT XV

WHETHER HOLLAND'S ABSENCE FROM **THE HEARING ON
THE MOTION TO CONTINUE THE PENALTY PHASE IS
REVERSIBLE ERROR**

The record reflects at the July 8, 1991, hearing, defense counsel stood up and informed the court that they were waiving their client's presence on the record (TR 3093). Defense counsel then stated that Holland had instructed defense counsel that he wanted them to find witnesses and they were having difficulty locating the witnesses for the penalty phase (TR 3093).

Holland now argues "fundamental error" occurred because he personally was not present at the time defense counsel waived his presence. Such an allegation is totally groundless. See Rose v. State, 617 So.2d 291, 296 (Fla. 1993), wherein the court recognized that a defendant has no right to be present when his presence would be useless or the benefit a shadow. See Snyder v. Massachusetts, 291 U.S. 97 (1934). Citing Francis v. State, 413 So.2d 1175, 1177 (Fla. 1982), the court further noted that a defendant has a due process right "to be present at any stage of the proceedings that is critical to its outcome, if his presence would contribute to the fairness of the proceedings." 617 So.2d 296. However, the court reasoned in the instant case that the in-camera discussion would not have had any effect on the fairness of the proceedings against Rose. Therefore his absence from the in-camera discussions which "focused on the problems between Rousen and Rose and on Rousen's concern about his ability to provide a proper defense given those problems. Rose could not have added anything of benefit to this discussion. . . ." 617 So.2d at 296.

Similarly, in the instant **case** defense counsel affirmatively waived Holland's presence and stated the reason for a need for a two week continuance was because there had been difficulties in locating witnesses in Washington, D.C. (TR 3092). Beyond a shadow of a doubt, Holland could have contributed nothing more to defense counsel's request except to reassert his dissatisfaction with defense counsel, something the trial court already knew and had previously dealt with.

Based on the foregoing, no relief should be forthcoming as to this claim.

POINT XVI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING A
REQUESTED INSTRUCTION CONCERNING THE DOUBLING
OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES

Holland next complains that defense counsel's requested jury instruction (TR 4721):

The prosecution may not **rely** upon a single aspect of the offense to establish more than a single aggravating circumstance. Therefore, if you find that two or more of the aggravating circumstances are supported by a single aspect of the offense, you may only consider that as supporting a single aggravating circumstance,

The jury in Holland's case was instructed on four aggravating circumstances, two of which were that the crime for which Holland was to be sentenced was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing the lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody; and that the victim of the crime for which Holland was to be sentenced was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his duties. Holland now argues that the

trial court should have given the aforesaid instruction because both aggravators should not have been found based on the evidence presented and this Court's decision in Castro v. State, 597 So.2d 259, 261 (Fla. 1992).

The facts of the instant **case** support both statutory aggravating factors that the murder was committed to avoid or prevent a lawful arrest or effect an escape from custody and that the victim was a law enforcement officer engaged in the performance of his official duties. The trial court was correct in concluding that both aggravating factors were proven beyond a reasonable doubt and the trial court correctly instructed the jury with regard to same. The trial court found in his sentencing order that the capital felony was committed for the purpose of avoiding or preventing a lawful arrest or effecting an escape from custody because:

. . . The evidence proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Officer Winters was trying to effect an arrest of the defendant when the defendant acquired the officer's gun and then committed the capital felony.

(TR 4813).

With regard to the aggravating factor that the victim of the capital felony was a law enforcement officer, the court held:

. . . The evidence proved beyond a reasonable doubt that the victim, Officer Scott Winters, was a duly qualified law enforcement officer of the city of Pompano Beach Police Department and was engaged in the official duty of attempting the arrest of the defendant for sexual battery.

(TR 4813).

In Castro v. State, 597 So.2d 259, 261 (Fla. 1992), this Court stated:

When applicable, the jury may be instructed on 'doubled' aggravating circumstances since it may find one but not the other to exist. A limiting instruction properly advises the jury that should it find both aggravating factors present, it must consider the two **factors** as one, and thus the instruction should have been given.

597 So.2d at 261.

In the instant case, the trial court properly ruled that a doubling instruction was not applicable. If, however, this Court should somehow construe the facts of the instant case as warranting such an instruction, it is submitted any failure to give such instruction is harmless error **beyond a reasonable doubt**. See Jones v. State, 612 So.2d 1370, 1375 (Fla. 1992), wherein a similar circumstance, this Court found the failure to tell the jury to **merge** the pecuniary gain and felony murder factors harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt.

Based on **the** foregoing, no relief should be forthcoming as to this claim.

POINT XVII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ITS FINDING OF AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES AND ON ITS FAILURE TO FIND AND/OR CONSIDER UNREBUTTED NONSTATUTORY MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES

Holland's sole complaint with regard to the trial court's finding that four statutory aggravating factors existed to support the death penalty is that **the** trial court improperly doubled §921.141(5)(e), and §921.141(5)(j). As previously argued, the State would submit that both §§(5)(e) and (5)(j) were

proven by independent facts as noted by the trial court in its sentencing order. As such, no error resulted. Even assuming for the moment that there was a "improper doubling", said error was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt in that three statutory aggravating factors remained and the mitigation did not **exist** that outweighed the aggravation proven. See Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40, 47 (Fla. 1991).

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